I. INTRODUCTION 

Appellant, Sarah Christner, was a receptionist at Washington 

Center for Pain Management ("WCPM")-a medical clinic with several 

locations in Puget Sound. WCPM demanded Ms. Christner' s two week 

resignation because it chose not to continue to accommodate her short 

notice time off requests beyond two weeks, as they needed a receptionist 

who could reliably work full-time. WCPM considers any request for time 

off with less than two weeks' notice to be a "short notice" request, 

including partial-day absences for medical appointments or other urgent 

matters. Despite this, WCPM previously approved Ms. Christener' s 

requests for partial days off, including instances when she provided less 

than two weeks' notice, and never issued any formal discipline. 

After Ms. Christner experienced some health issues necessitating 

several doctors' appointments, WCPM sent her an email stating her health 

condition and frequent medical appointments were "becoming very 

difficult with scheduling" and asked her to provide a doctor's note to 

project the number of future doctor appointments anticipated. A few 

minutes later, WCPM issued her a directive that in the future she must 

provide two weeks' notice for time off-"no exceptions." 
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About two weeks later, Ms. Christner submitted a request to leave 

early. This request was made only 12-13 days in advance. While most of 

Ms. Christner' s requests for time off had been for doctor appointments, 

this request was for a personal reason-to leave work early to attend a job 

interview with a law enforcement agency. When Ms. Christner was hired 

at WCPM, she disclosed her career aspiration to work in law enforcement 

and was hired with that knowledge. At first WCPM did not respond to her 

request. When Ms. Christner followed up, WCPM responded by 

approving the afternoon off, but demanding her two week resignation. 

Ms. Christner applied for unemployment benefits, reporting she 

was discharged for requesting too much time off; WCPM reported she quit 

for needing too much time off. The Employment Security Department 

adjudicated the job separation as a discharge and allowed benefits, finding 

there was no statutory misconduct. 

WCPM appealed the initial unemployment eligibility decision on 

the basis that Ms. Christner quit and therefore it was entitled to relief of 

benefit charges on its experience rating account. At the hearing, WCPM 

did not allege misconduct, did not produce or offer into evidence any 

supporting documentary evidence to support misconduct such as a policy 

or copies of warnings, did not provide dates or details of the alleged 

absences or other facts to show misconduct, and it did not make any 
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closing argument. Nevertheless, the administrative law judge denied 

unemployment benefits, finding Appellant's behavior to be disqualifying 

misconduct. The Commissioner affirmed, concluding Appellant's conduct 

was a "deliberate violation and disregard of standards of behavior which 

an employer has the right to expect." 

Ms. Christner believes she should be eligible for unemployment 

benefits. She appeals the Commissioner's decision and asks this court to 

reverse. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Commissioner erred in adopting Conclusions of Law (CL) No. 
7 and 8, because they misinterpret and misapply RCW 50.04.294(1) 
and (2) and in ultimately finding statutory misconduct pursuant to 
RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) and RCW 50.20.066 CP 163. 

2. The Commissioner erred in adopting Findings of Fact (FF) No. 5 
and 8 because it erroneously mischaracterized a certain email as a 
"final warning" sufficient to put the employee on notice that her job 
was in jeopardy, found the claimant did not disclose the reasons for 
the requests for time off, and found the employer believed all of the 
requests for time off were due to illness; and where that "warning" 
was not properly admitted into evidence. CP 162, FF 5 and FF 8. 

3. The Commissioner erred in adopting FF No. 6 and CL No. 11, 
which erroneously found the repeated requests for time off created a 
"hardship" on the employer and staff, which it found to support a 
finding of misconduct. CP 162, 164, FF 6 and CL 11. 

4. The Commissioner erred in adopting FF No. 7, which erroneously 
found, "Following the final warning, the claimant requested time 
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off on approximately five separate occasions in a 5-week period." 
CP 162, FF 7. 

5. The Commissioner erred in adopting FF No. 9 and FF No. 10, 
which erroneously misrepresent the facts and leave out key 
exculpatory information. CP 162. 

6. The Commissioner erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 11 which 
erroneously states the claimant's two-week notice ofresignation is 
effective, "November 1, 2013" [sic]. CP 162. 

7. The Commissioner erred when it failed to address the exceptions to 
misconduct stated in the third prong of the statute. RCW 
50.04.294(3) CP 163, CL 8. 

8. The Commissioner erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 10 
because the evidence in the record fails to show the employer met 
its burden of proof. CP 163-164, CL 10. 

9. The Commissioner erred when it overlooked procedural 
irregularities such as considering documentary evidence that was 
not properly marked or admitted by the ALJ and the Appellant's 
lack of opportunity to cross-examine the employer's witnesses, CP 
113-114. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether the Commissioner erred in affirming the ALJ' s findings of 
fact and conclusions of law that Ms. Christner deliberately violated 
and disregarded standards of behavior Washington Center for Pain 
Management has the right to expect pursuant to RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) 
when there is insufficient substantial evidence to show its policy is 
reasonable and that it provided warnings and where there was no 
deliberate violation? 

2. Whether the Commissioner erred in affirming the ALJ's findings of 
fact and conclusions of law that Ms. Christner deliberately violated 
and disregarded standards of behavior which an employer has the right 
to expect of an employee where the employer's decision to discharge 
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was based on anticipated future conduct and the employer absolved 
any alleged "violations" by approving the time off requests? 

3. Whether the Commissioner erred in affirming all of the ALJ' s findings 
of fact and conclusions of law when there is sufficient evidence in the 
record to show that a two-week "no exceptions" notice policy for 
requesting time off in all circumstances is not reasonable? 

4. Whether the Commissioner erred in affirming all of the ALJ's findings 
of fact and conclusions of law when there is no substantial evidence in 
the record to show that the claimant violated any other part of RCW 
50.04.294(1) or (2) or that the substantial evidence in the record 
supports an exception under (3)? 

5. Whether the Commissioner erred in concluding there was misconduct 
when substantial evidence in the record fails to support the employer 
met its burden of proof by a preponderance of evidence? 

6. Whether the Commissioner erred in failing to address procedural 
defects at the administrative hearing which unduly abridged the 
claimant's due process rights to confront witnesses and rebut evidence 
pursuant to RCW 34.05.461(4)? 

7. Whether Appellant is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs 
if the Commissioner's order is reversed or modified? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. EMPLOYMENT BACKGROUND AND JOB SEPARATION 

Ms. Sarah Christner, appellant and unemployment claimant, began 

working as a receptionist at Washington Center for Pain Management 

("WCPM"), a medical clinic, on November 5, 2012 where she earned 

$15.00 per hour and worked full-time. CP 96-97, 109. WCPM operates 

multiple clinics. CP 102. At her initial interview for the receptionist 

5 



position, Ms. Christner informed WCPM of her long-term career goal to 

work in law enforcement, given her bachelor's degree in sociology and 

law. CP at 135, 155, 158. 

From September 26, 2013 to November 1, 2013, Ms. Christner 

requested to take partial time off from work approximately five to six 

times. CP 99-100, 125. Most of her requests were for medical 

appointments, but at least one, was for a job interview with the 

Department of Corrections. CP 114-15, 135, 150, 155, 158. However, the 

only dates, times, and reasons that are clear from the record that WCPM 

approved partial days off were September 30, 2013 (for a doctor's 

appointment), and October 23, 2013 (for the interview). CP 003162, 188, 

134. 

WCPM' s attendance policy requires that all absences from work 

must be submitted in writing to the supervisor and approved by the 

director of operations at least two weeks in advance "whenever possible." 

CP 132. Ms. Christner gave WCPM written notice when she needed to 

take a morning off or leave early. CP 99-100. She submitted doctors' 

notes for certain medical appointments and at Clinic Lead, Sarah Bundy's, 

request. CP 107. Except for one instance that Ms. Christner was able to 

reschedule, WCPM approved all of the prior time off. CP 116, 126 173, 

188. 
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On September 26, 2013, Ms. Bundy exchanged emails with Ms. 

Christner about her request to take part of September 30, 2013 off for a 

doctor's appointment. CP 188. 1 Ms. Bundy approved the time off for the 

September 30 appointment, but testified that Ms. Christner's "health 

conditions" necessitating her to "go to the doctor often [are] becoming 

very difficult with scheduling especially when there is not adequate time 

given prior to the request." CP 188. Ms. Bundy asked Ms. Christner to 

provide a note from her doctor to project the number of future doctor 

appointments anticipated and suggested she try to schedule all future 

doctor appointments without missing work. Id A few minutes later, Ms. 

Bundy sent Ms. Christner another email stating, "In the future, we do 

request two weeks [sic] notice for requesting time off, no exceptions." Id 

On October 10 or 11, 2013, Ms. Christner entered a request for 

time off through WCPM' s clock in, clock out system for time off on 

October 23, 2013 for "personal reasons." CP 115, 117. This request was 

made 12-13 days in advance. Id When Ms. Bundy did not respond, Ms. 

Christner followed up on her request. CP 189. On October 17, 2013, Ms. 

1 The email with the subject line, "Dr [sic] appointment" was not admitted as 
documentary evidence before the ALJ at any point during the hearing, yet was included 
in the Commissioner's Record. See CP 187-89. 
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Christner sent a follow up emaii2 stating she needed to take the afternoon 

of October 23 off for a "very important matter to attend to ... .I would need 

to be off at 1 :30 p.m. at the latest." CP 189. 

The next day, October 18, Ms. Christner disclosed to Ms. Bundy 

that the personal matter was a job interview and that she had told the 

hiring manager, Loni, before she was hired, that she was pursuing a career 

in her field of studies and that her long-term career goal was to work in 

law enforcement. CP 114-15, 155. Ms. Christner also pointed out that 

most of her requests were for medical appointments and only recently the 

requests were for job seeking activities. CP 114, 155. 

Ms. Bundy granted the requested time off for October 23, but told 

Ms. Christner they were ending her employment and asked for Ms. 

Christner's two-week resignation because WCPM could not "continue to 

accommodate these short notice time off requests beyond the two weeks 

as we need a reliable full time front desk receptionist." CP 135, 146, 153, 

155-56. Ms. Christner complied with the request in lieu of being fired and 

tendered two weeks' notice. CP 135-36, 153, 155-56. WCPM terminated 

her employment on November 1, 2013. CP 109, 147. 

2 The email with subject line "Also ... " was not admitted as documentary evidence and 
was not addressed at the hearing, but it was included as part of the Commissioner's 
Record under review. CP 189. It appears to have been faxed by WCPM on 1/16/2014. /d 
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2. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

a. The Department Adjudicated the Job Separation as a 
Discharge and Allowed Unemployment Benefits, Finding 
there was No Misconduct. 

Ms. Christner applied for unemployment benefits the week ending 

October 27, 2013. CP 149, 152, 161 ("BYE: 10/25/2014"). WCPM 

reported in writing to the Department that Ms. Christner voluntarily quit 

her job. See CP 147-48. WCPM wrote, "Voluntary resigned to pursue a 

position w/another employer. Requested time off, to do preliminary 

testings [sic] for new employer." CP 147. WCPM, a base year employer, 

left blank the section regarding misconduct and did not mark either the 

"Employee quit, not employer's fault" box or the "Employee was fired for 

misconduct" box on the form to request relief of benefit charges. CP 148. 

After conducting written and telephonic fact-finding with Ms. 

Christner and WCPM, the Department awarded unemployment benefits to 

Ms. Christner beginning 11/3/2013, finding there was no misconduct. See 

CP 139-143. The Department's decision defined misconduct: 

"Misconduct" includes acts that show a willful or wanton disregard 
for your employer or co-workers, deliberate violations of 
customary standards of behavior, and carelessness or negligence 
that is repeated or could result in serious bodily harm. See RCW 
50.04.294 and WAC 192-150-200." 

CP 140 (emphasis added). 
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b. Washington Center for Pain Management Appealed, 
Alleging the Employee Quit and therefore it should be 
Relieved of Benefit Charges. 

WCPM appealed the ESD's determination to allow benefits to the 

Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH). CP 146. In WCPM's letter of 

appeal, it made its position clear that Ms. Christner quit and there was no 

misconduct. Id. Mr. Lee asserted WCPM was entitled to relief of charges 

of its experience rating account. Id. Mr. Lee's letter states in pertinent 

part: 

" ... Our intent was not to establish misconduct, but rather to 
show that the claimant's departure was due to a voluntary quit. 
We believe a statement we made during a phone call was taken out 
of context. Per attached emails, while we did request the claimant 
to resign, it was as a result of her repeated requests for time off on 
short notice, even by her own admission. The claimant's position 
requires full time staffing and the business cannot accommodate 
multiple short notice requests for time off. We therefore request 
relief of benefit charging." 

Letter from Jae Lee, CEO, Washington Center for Pain 
Management, December 27, 2013 (emphasis added). 

Id., CP 153-54. 
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A Notice of Hearing was sent to the parties.3 CP 182-84. The 

"Purpose of the Hearing" states the hearing will address (1) whether "[t]he 

claimant was discharged from employment for misconduct pursuant to 

RCW 50.20.066, or voluntarily quit without good cause pursuant to RCW 

50.20.050," and (2) whether "[t]he claimant was able to, available for, and 

actively seeking work in accordance with the standards of RCW 

50.20.0lO(c)[.]" CP 183. 

c. The Hearing before the Office of Administrative Hearings 
(OAH). 

The administrative appeal hearing was held telephonically on 

January 21, 2014 before an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) ofOAH. CP 

2, 107. CEO Jae Lee, Controller Steve Bromberg, 4 and Clinical Lead 

Sarah Bundy appeared as witnesses for the employer. CP 82. Mouang 

Saeteum from Human Resources, who prepared several of the admitted 

and non-admitted documents, did not appear. Id Ms. Christner 

represented herself pro se. Id 

The ALJ explained the parties' cross-examination rights after each 

person testified. CP 87-88. Ms. Bundy, who was designated by the ALJ as 

the "employer's representative" after the start of the hearing, had not read 

3 The Notice of Hearing was not one of the admitted exhibits, but it is included in the 
Commissioner's Record. CP 182-84. 
4 The witness is inadvertently identified as 'Brombert' in the ALJ's order. CP 161. 
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or possessed any of the proposed exhibits in the hearing packet, as she was 

on vacation during the hearing. CP 89-90. Mr. Bromberg was the only 

employer witness who had reviewed the documents. CP 89-90. 

The ALJ called Mr. Bromberg as a witness, but after a couple of 

questions decided not to question him further and did not offer Ms. 

Christner an opportunity to cross-examine him. CP 111-12. After Mr. Lee 

interrupted the ALJ toward the end of the hearing, the ALJ took additional 

testimony but did not offer Ms. Christner an opportunity to cross examine 

Mr. Lee before closing the evidence portion of the hearing. CP 133-34. 

WCPM did not provide a copy of the policy to the Department or 

to OAH; Ms. Christner offered to read a portion of it during direct 

examination. CP 132-33 Ms. Christner read the policy: 

"Um, [I'll] try to read it as accurately as possible. It says, 'All 
requests from (Inaudible) must be submitted in writing, um -- um, 
through your supervisor at least two weeks in advance of approval 
by the director of operations and will be granted as staffing 
allows." 

CP 132. 

Ms. Christner also read, "The objective of the time off [sic] is to ensure 

that absences will be scheduled in advance whenever possible. "CP 132 

(emphasis added). 
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No employment policy was provided at the hearing for the alleged 

policy at issue. Mr. Lee acknowledged that he did not have that 

information with him at the hearing. CP 110. The employer did not ever 

produce a copy of the policy. 

No testimony and no documentary evidence was proffered as to 

whether the asserted policy provides time off for medical issues or other 

exceptions. CP 81-13 7. Likewise, there was no evidence as to whether the 

time taken was paid time-such as under a sick leave or paid time off 

(PTO) plan--or whether the policy applied to all employees or a certain 

class of employees, or whether WCPM is subject to the Family Medical 

Leave Act (FMLA), and if so, whether Ms. Christner might have been 

eligible for intermittent FMLA or protected medical leave under federal, 

state or local leave or disability laws. Id. 

At the unemployment appeal hearing, Ms. Bundy did not recall 

specific details about Ms. Christner's time off requests. CP 102. She could 

only recall that in the month of October, Ms. Christner was "beginning to 

request, um, multiple days off," and it was "becoming more and more 

difficult to accommodate this." CP 96-99. Likewise, Ms. Bundy did not 

recall the last conversation with Ms. Christner before the separation. CP 

97. She could only recall having "some conversations" with Ms. Christner 
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about WCPM's need for at least two weeks' notice for "[s]ome mornings" 

Ms. Christner worked. CP 96-97. 

At first, Ms. Bundy did not recall if she had given Ms. Christner 

that her job was in jeopardy, testifying that, "I can't say if those were my 

words, no, but there was [sic] warnings given ... .I don't think it included 

her resignation, however." CP 97-99." When pressed, Ms. Bundy 

testified that she " ... was making it very clear that these accommodations 

were becoming very, very difficult, um, that we needed the coverage, that 

-- that this was becoming an issue." CP 99 (FF6 and CL 11). Ms. Bundy 

could " ... not recall ifthat warning included us saying that she would be 

fired if it continued." Id. 

Ms. Bundy did not recall or describe any specific incidents where 

Ms. Christner' s requests made it difficult to find staffing coverage, but 

instead testified how the "short notice time off' requests would require her 

to "scramble" to find coverage or cover that part of the shift herself. Id. 

(FF6 and CL 11 ). Ms. Bundy testified "on average, within a two-week 

period," Ms. Christner gave one week's notice, but Ms. Bundy admitted 

that sometimes she gave two weeks. CP 102-03. Ms. Bundy testified that 

" ... although [she] was doing [her] best to accommodate the requests, it 

was -- it was definitely an issue." CP 102. 
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Ms. Bundy was unable to recollect specifics about the frequency of 

the time off requests. CP 103. She testified that she " ... remember[ed] a 

time where there would be two requests for the same week. Multiple 

requests for that month, um, quite a few requests at a time." Id. No follow 

up testimony was elicited about whether those requests were for medical 

appointments. Ms. Bundy testified the policy required two weeks' notice, 

but admitted that one week notice was adequate but not when it was on a 

such a regular basis. CP 103. 

Then, for the first time in the hearing, the ALJ characterized the 

"warning" as a "final warning" and asked the witness when it was given 

and whether it was verbal or written. CP 104. 

ALJ: And you don't recall when you gave the final 
warning before Ms. Christner sent this October 18th email? 

MS. BUNDY: No, not the exact date. 

ALJ: Well, just approximate. 

MS. BUNDY: I would -- imagine it would be towards the middle 
of October. Just, you know, a little bit prior to her email to me.

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