No. 73024-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SARAH CHRISTNER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEAH HARRIS, WSBA # 40815 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov



ORIGINAL

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

Christner also challenges the finding that the employer gave her a "final warning" about repeatedly requesting time off.⁴ Appellant's

⁴ The challenged finding states, in relevant part, "On September 26, 2013, the claimant received a final warning for repeatedly requesting time off on short or no notice." CP 162 (FF 5).

Opening Br. at 3, 38-40; CP 162 (FF 5). She argues it was not a "warning" that was "sufficient to put someone on notice that there [sic] job is lawfully in jeopardy." Appellant's Opening Br. at 39. First, "final" can mean "relating to or occurring at the end or conclusion: LAST, TERMINATING." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 851 (2002). Christner herself characterized the September 26 email as a "written warning" and stated it was the last warning she received from the employer about her absences before she was asked to resign. Additionally, Sarah Bundy, Christner's supervisor, testified that prior to asking for Christner's resignation, she had given Christner "verbal and written warnings" and "was making it very clear that these accommodations were becoming very, very difficult[.]" CP 99; see also AR at 97-98, 102, 104-05. Although Bundy could not recall the specific date or content of the last warning she gave Christner,⁵ Christner testified that the final written warning she received from Bundy was the September 26 email. CP 117-18. Christner later read the email into the record:

"Hi, Chris. I realize you have some health conditions currently and are needing to go to the doctor often; however, this is becoming very difficult with scheduling, especially when there is not adequate time given prior to the request. I will approve the time off request for this Monday; um,

⁵ Bundy did not have a copy of the exhibits in front of her when testifying and had not had an opportunity to review the exhibits, as she was apparently on vacation at the time of the hearing. AR at 14-15. The employer had two other witnesses present who had reviewed the exhibits. AR at 14-15, 33-36.

however, I do request that you provide a doctor's note that suggests a number of future doctor appointments anticipated. In addition, if you can schedule doctor appointments without missing work, that would be greatly appreciated and is preferable. Please let me know if you have any questions."

AR at 45.6

Even if the September 26 email was not the *last* warning, both Bundy and Christner's testimony makes clear that Bundy's September 26 email was not the first conversation they had had about leave requests on short notice. CP at 97-99, 102, 104-05, 114, 120-21, 125-27.

Second, as explained more thoroughly below, the law does not require, as Christner suggests, that an employer warn an employee of potential consequences in order to show that an employee has been discharged for disqualifying misconduct. Because substantial evidence supports the factual finding that on September 26, 2013, the claimant received a final warning for repeatedly requesting time off on short or no notice, this Court should uphold the finding. CP 162 (FF 5); RCW 34.05.570(3)(e).

Christner's argument that there is not sufficient evidence in the record to support a finding that the employer had a policy requiring two weeks' notice for time off requests is misplaced because there is no factual

⁶ Christner testified that she uses the first name "Chris." AR at 17.

finding that the employer had such a policy.⁷ Appellant's Opening Br. at 31-33. Rather, the Commissioner found that Christner made many requests for time off, often with short notice; that until October 18, the employer believed all of the requests were for medical appointments; that the repeated requests on short notice created a hardship because the employer frequently had to scramble to find coverage; f and that the employer warned Christner of the challenges her requests posed. CP 87 (FF 5, 6), 89 (CL 11). Substantial evidence does support these findings.

In sum, viewing the record in the light most favorable to the Decision of the Commissioner, the evidence shows that Christner made multiple requests for time off, some for medical reasons, some for securing other employment; until October 18, the employer believed all of the requests were for medical reasons; Christner knew these requests created a hardship for the employer, but continued to make frequent requests on short notice, sometimes under false pretenses, and increasingly for employment appointments; after the "final warning" on September 26, Christner made five requests in a five-week period; and when the

⁷ For the same reasons, Christner's argument that a rule requiring two weeks' notice for time off with no exceptions is not reasonable is misplaced. Appellant's Opening Br. at 34-35. Not only is there no finding about such a policy, the Commissioner did not conclude that Christner was disqualified under RCW 50.04.294(2)(f), which makes violation of a reasonable company rule about which the claimant knew disqualifying misconduct. Christner was disqualified for violating a standard of behavior the employer had the right to expect. RCW 50.05.274(1)(b); CP 178.

employer discovered that many of the requests were to pursue other employment opportunities and not medical appointments, as they had believed, and that she would continue to make such short-notice requests to pursue other jobs, they ended her employment. The Court should not reweigh the evidence or competing inferences on appeal. *Wm. Dickson Co.*, 81 Wn. App. at 411.

B. The Commissioner Properly Concluded Christner Was Discharged for Disqualifying Misconduct Under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b)

Based on the factual findings, the Commissioner properly concluded that Christner was discharged from work for disqualifying misconduct. CP 103-04; RCW 50.20.066(1). "[T]he determination of whether a particular employee's behavior constitutes 'misconduct connected with his or her work' is a mixed question of law and fact, in that it requires the application of legal precepts (the definition of 'misconduct connected with his or her work') to factual circumstances (the details of the employee's discharge)." *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 402. As the Commissioner found, Christner committed "[d]eliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee." RCW 50.04.294(1)(b); CP 178.

1. Christner disregarded the standards of behavior her employer had the right to expect.

As discussed, substantial evidence supports the findings that Christner made many requests for time off, often with short notice; that until October 18, the employer believed all of the requests were for medical appointments; that Christner was aware that the repeated requests on short notice created a hardship because the employer frequently had to scramble to find coverage; and that, after verbal and written warnings about the challenges her requests posed, Christner made approximately five requests for time off in a five week period. These findings, in turn, support the conclusion that Christner deliberately disregarded the standards of behavior the employer had the right to expect. RCW 50.04.294(1)(b); CP 103.

The employer had the right to expect Christner to fulfill her job duties as a full-time receptionist without making five to six requests for time off in a five week period. The employer made this standard known through both verbal and written warnings, informing her of their need for sufficient notice and of the difficulty in accommodating her requests. CP 99, 104, 111, 120, 87 (FF 5), 89 (CL 11). Yet she continued to make frequent requests and indicated she would continue to do so until she found other, preferable employment. CP 105, 110, 124-25, 87 (FF 7), 89

(CL 11). Christner's October 18 email establishes that she was aware that it had become "increasingly difficult to accommodate as many time off requests as I have requested in such short notice." CP 155. Yet she continued to make the requests. This shows that she deliberately disregarded this known standard. An employee acts with willful disregard when she "(1) is aware of his employer's interest; (2) knows or should have known that certain conduct jeopardizes that interest; but (3) nonetheless intentionally performs the act, willfully disregarding its probable consequences." *Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 93 Wn. App. 140, 146-47, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998).

Employers also have a right to expect that its employees will not request time off under false pretenses. Although Christner never explicitly stated she had a medical appointment when she did not, until October 18, the employer believed that all of Christner's requests for time off were for medical reasons. CP 106, 162 (FF 5). Sometimes she said the reason was for a doctor's appointment (and she did often provide doctor's notes for those), but other times she was more vague, claiming an "emergency situation." CP 106-07. Even on Thursday, October 17, Christner was not upfront about the reasons for several of her requests. She stated that she had "a very important matter to attend to next Wednesday," which would have been October 23, the day of the oral board. CP 114. It was not until

the next day that she revealed that while many of her requests had been for medical appointments, "[m]ore recently, however, I have been requesting time off for personal matters regarding appointments for other employment." CP 155. When the employer had believed the requests were for medical appointments, it did its best to accommodate the requests. It was not until they learned that the more recent, frequent requests were to pursue other employment, and that Christner would continue to request time off on short notice for reasons other than medical need, that they ended her employment. CP 108, 155-56.

Christner, aware of her employer's standards and that her conduct jeopardized her employer's interest, deliberately violated or disregarded those known standards. *Hamel*, 93 Wn. App. at 146-47. The Court should conclude that Christner's conduct constituted misconduct under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b).

2. If the misconduct statute is ambiguous, the Court should defer to the agency's interpretation.

The Commissioner properly applied the plain language of RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) and concluded that Christner disregarded the standards of behavior WCPM had the right to expect of her. But even if the language of RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) is ambiguous, the Court should defer to the Department's interpretation here because it has "expertise and

insight gained from administering" the Employment Security Act. Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 159 Wn.2d 868, 885, 154 P.3d 891 (2007). "Where an agency is charged with administering a special field of law and endowed with quasi-judicial functions, such as the Department of Employment Security, because of the agency's expertise in that field, its construction of words should be accorded substantial weight." Safeco Ins. Companies v. Meyering, 102 Wn.2d 385, 391, 687 P.2d 195 (1984). This principle is particularly important because it contributes to statewide uniformity in the employment benefits program for thousands of employees and employers.

The Court should afford substantial weight to the Commissioner's interpretation of "misconduct" and what is meant by "disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee." *Markam Group, Inc., P.S. v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 148 Wn. App. 555, 561, 200 P.3d 748 (2009); RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). Christner seeks to rely on the Employment Security Act's mandate for liberal construction. See Appellant's Opening Br. at 26-28. But the Department is to construe the Act "for the purpose of reducing involuntary unemployment." RCW 50.01.010. That is not a mandate to construe the Act in all claimants' favor. The disqualification provisions of the Act "are based upon the fault principle and are predicated on the individual

worker's action, in a sense his or her blameworthiness." *Safeco*, 102 Wn.2d at 391-92 (declining to award benefits despite "legislatively expressed policy of liberal construction"). Accordingly, "in order for a claimant to be eligible for benefits, the act requires that the reason for the unemployment be external and apart from the claimant." *Id.* (citing *Cowles Publ'g Co. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 15 Wn. App. 590, 593, 550 P.2d 712 (1976)).

Here, the reasons for Christner's unemployment are not "external and apart" from her. *Id.* She made increasingly frequent requests for time off on short notice to pursue other jobs, did so contrary to warnings, and informed her employer that she would continue to do so until she was hired elsewhere. CP 105, 155. In short, Christner was at fault for the job separation. The employer should not have to bear the burden of Christner's time-consuming job search activities, by entertaining frequent requests for time off on short notice and scrambling to find coverage, or through benefit charges to its experience rating account, in turn impacting its tax liabilities. Liberal construction cannot override the disqualification provisions for misconduct. The Court should affirm.

3. RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), which applies here, does not require the employer to have issued warnings prior to discharge.

Christner inappropriately asserts that RCW 50.04.294(2)(b), which makes "[r]epeated inexcusable tardiness following warnings by the employer" misconduct per se, requires warnings by the employer before the conduct can be considered misconduct. Appellant's Opening Br. at 39. While she is correct on the law's requirement, this is of no consequence because the Commissioner did not find Christner was disqualified under that provision; the Commissioner found Christner was disqualified under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), for disregarding the standards of behavior the employer had the right to expect. CP 178. Outside of the specific misconduct provision concerning inexcusable tardiness, there is nothing in the Employment Security Act that requires an employer to put an employee on notice that his or her job is in jeopardy before a job separation can be adjudicated as a discharge for misconduct. Christner does not point to any contrary authority.

Further, because subsection (2)(b) requires proof of warnings from the employer, the Legislature knew how to include a requirement that an employer give warnings, but did not do so for "[d]eliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee." RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). To express one thing in a statute

implies the exclusion of the other. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 728-29, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). The Court should therefore presume that the absence of a warnings requirement under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) is intentional, and no specific warning is required. *See id.*; RCW 50.04.294(1)(b).

4. By accommodating Christner's requests and allowing her to remain employed for two weeks, the employer did not condone her conduct or waive any arguments.

Citing *In re Griswold*, 102 Wn. App. 29, 32, 15 P.3d 153 (2000), Christner argues that by making every effort to accommodate Christner's frequent requests for time off, the employer "absolved" Christner of any misconduct. Appellant's Opening Br. at 38. She is mistaken.

In *Griswold*, the court found that a grocery store meat wrapper who was fired for purchasing outdated meat at a marked down price had not committed disqualifying misconduct. *Griswold*, 102 Wn. App. at 31-32. But there, the employer's policy seemed to permit purchases of past pull-date meat, the store managers routinely authorized such purchases to boost their monthly sales totals, and the employee received no warnings about her conduct. *Id.* at 33, 38. In fact, the employee believed she was following established practices. *Id.* at 33. In contrast here, Christner received ample warning that her frequent requests for time off on short notice created a hardship on her employer, yet she continued to engage in

the practice. The employer should not be penalized for trying to accommodate Christner's requests, especially when it believed all of them were for medical appointments.

The employer also did not waive any arguments by allowing Christner to work for an additional two weeks after asking for her resignation. See Appellant's Opening Br. at 40-41. First, Christner cites no authority that in order to find a discharge was for misconduct, the termination must be effective immediately. Id. The Court should decline to consider the argument. DeHeer, 60 Wn.2d at 126 (where no authority is cited, the court may assume counsel found none after a diligent search); Darkenwald, 350 P.3d at 652 ("[I]ssues not supported by argument and citation to authority will not be considered on appeal.") (quoting Farmer, 116 Wn.2d at 432). Second, the employer apparently was under the mistaken impression that by asking Christner to resign, the job separation would be determined to be a voluntary quit. While this is not the case, and the Commissioner correctly determined the employer was the moving party in the job separation, again, the employer should not be penalized for keeping Christner employed.

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